## No. 46795-0-II

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

## STATE OF WASHINGTON

 $\mathbf{V}_{\cdot}$ 

## BRIAN McEVOY

# AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas E. Weaver WSBA #22488 Attorney for Appellant

The Law Office of Thomas E. Weaver P.O. Box 1056 Bremerton, WA 98337 (360) 792-9345

#

# Assignments of Error

- The trial court erred by allowing inflammatory and irrelevant comments and opinions by law enforcement about Mr.
   McEvoy's guilt and intent and the state of mind of the officers.
- 2. The trial court erred by admitting the rental car and hotel receipts as adoptive admissions.
- 3. The evidence is insufficient to convict Mr. McEvoy of violating the No Contact Order on April 12, 2014.
- 4 The evidence is insufficient to convict Mr. McEvoy of Felony Stalking
- 5 The two No Contact order Violations merge with the Felony Stalking
- 6 The trial court erred by refusing to instruct on the lesser included charge of Misdemeanor Harassment.

## Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Over repeated objections, the trial court allowed the State to introduce evidence of the largely futile efforts of law enforcement to locate and apprehend Mr. McEvoy, testimony that included inflammatory opinions by the law enforcement of his guilt and irrelevant statements of the officers' state of mind? Did the trial court err by overruling these objections and allowing this prejudicial testimony?
- 2. Did the trial court err by finding the rental car and hotel receipts were not hearsay because they were adoptive admissions?
- 3. Mr. McEvoy was convicted of violating a No Contact Order on April 12, 2014 when he returned to his family residence to check the mailbox. Was the evidence sufficient to convict him when the undisputed testimony was that his wife, the protected party, had vacated the residence and moved in with her mother?
- 4. Felony Stalking requires proof that the defendant on two occasions both contacted the protected party of a no contact order and did so in a harassing manner. Conceding that Mr. McEvoy contacted his wife in a harassing manner on May 13,

2014, was the evidence sufficient to sustain a conviction for Felony Stalking when the only other alleged contact was on April 12, 2014, when he checked the mailbox of his former residence?

- 5. Do the two No Contact Order violations merge with the Felony Stalking?
- 6. Mr. McEvoy telephoned his wife on May 13, 2014 and made several aggressive statement, but did not directly threaten to kill her, for which he was charged with Felony Harassment. Should the trial court have instructed the jury on the lesser included charge of Misdemeanor Harassment?

# B. Statement of Facts

# Background

Brian McEvoy was charged by second amended information with 14 criminal charges CP, 45. The charges were:

Charge	Incident Date	Special Allegations
I-Attempted second degree tape	April 9, 2014	DV (family or household member)
II-Second degree assault	April 9, 2014	DV (family or household member)
		Committed in presence of minor children
III-Felony harassment	April 9, 2014	DV (family or household member)
IV-Unlawful imprisonment	April 9, 2014	DV (family or household member)
V-Fourth degree assault	April 9, 2014	DV (family or household member)
VI-Interfering w/ 911 reporting	April 9, 2014	DV (family or household member)
VII-Third degree malicious mischief	April 9, 2014	DV (family or household member)
VIII-Violation of no contact order	April 12, 2014	DV (family or household member)

IX-Violation of no contact order	May 11, 2014	DV (family or household member)
X-Felony stalking	April 12, 2014 -May 19, 2014	DV (family or household member)
XI-Violation of no contact order	May 13, 2014	DV (family or household member)
XII-Felony harassment	May 13, 2014	DV (family or household member)
XIII-Attempt to elude	May 19, 2014	

XIV-Unlawful possession of firearm May 19, 2014 in the second degree

The victim of each of the counts was Ms. McEvoy's estranged wife, Kara McEvoy, except for the last two counts, which do not have a named victim, and Count V, where the named victim is his teenage son, DM, who was fifteen years old at all times relevant to this case. RP, 385. The McEvoys also have a daughter, KM, who was nine years old. RP, 414 Mr. McEvoy pleaded not guilty to all 14 counts. RP, 9 At trial, the jury found him not guilty of Court I, attempted second degree rape, and count IX, violation of no contact order from May 11, 2014. CP, 161, 164 The jury convicted him of the remaining 12 counts, including all special allegations CP, 162-177.

Brian McEvoy was a prior police officer with the Kitsap County Sheriff's Office, working there from approximately the late-1990's until 2008 or 2009 RP, 189. As such he was familiar with basic police procedures and practices RP, 188. The State's lead investigator was Kitsap County Detective Nicole Menge. RP, 186. On April 9, 2014, Brian McEvoy lived with his wife and two children at 15755 Fairview Lake Road SW in Port Orchard RP, 784.

## Chronology of Events

Kara McEvoy testified at length about the events the night of April 9, extending into the early morning hours of April 10. In 2013-14, the McEvoy marriage was having difficulties and Ms McEvoy decided the best course of action was a trial separation and for her to move out of the house. RP, 432. After getting off work at 5:00, she went apartment shopping RP, 432. She arrived home around 6:00 and told her husband of her plan. RP, 432. He got very upset, claiming she had "flat-lined" their marriage RP, 432. After a short conversation, she left to meet a friend. RP, 433. When she got home, around 11:00, Mr. McEvoy seemed upset, so she laid down her purse in the kitchen and went to the bedroom, with Mr. McEvoy following RP, 434-35.

In the bedroom, Ms. McEvoy said she was tired and wanted to go to bed, but Mr. McEvoy said, "You're not going to bed. You're going to suck my dick." RP, 435. Ms. McEvoy refused and went to her closet, causing Mr. McEvoy to grab her and push her onto the bed, repeatedly saying to her, "Suck my cock." RP, 436. He then hit her for the first time in their relationship, causing him to have a strange look, like a "person try[ing] a new ice cream flavor for the first time and you kind of let the flavor get in your mouth and think about it." RP, 435. He then hit her again and grabbed her hair, forcing her head to his crotch, saying, "Suck my dick." RP, 435-36. In the process, a small chunk of hair was ripped from her scalp. RP, 436.

Ms. McEvoy started screaming for DM to wake up and come help. RP, 439. After between two and five minutes, DM came into the bedroom, saw what was happening and said, "Stop hitting her. Hit me instead." RP, 439-40. Mr. McEvoy pushed DM away, ripping his shirt. RP, 440. Ms. McEvoy yelled for the kids to get the phone, which caused everyone to race to the kitchen, where all the phones were RP, 440-41. Mr. McEvoy won the race and smashed one of the phones. RP, 441.

Ms. McEvoy ran out of the house, with Mr. McEvoy following her. RP, 443. He chased her around the yard for a short while until she

was able to get to her car RP, 443 Mr. McEvoy was making threats, saying, "Hey bitch, I'm going to come fucking kill you." RP, 445. She turned on the car, but when she tried to accelerate, the car would not function normally. RP, 444 She was able to put the car in reverse and was backing up when Mr. McEvoy jumped on the hood of the car and starting punching the windshield with his fists, cracking the windshield. RP, 445. Mr. McEvoy then got off the car and, using a spare key, was able to get into the vehicle on the driver's side. RP, 447. He pushed Ms. McEvoy over onto the passenger side and got into the driver's seat RP, 447. Mr. McEvoy drove the car slowly a short distance while repeatedly telling her, "Suck my cock." RP, 449. Finally, in an effort to diffuse the situation, she agreed to perform oral sex. RP, 550. At that moment, Mr. McEvoy looked down at his bloody hands and had what Ms. McEvoy later described as a "moment of clarity." RP, 603. He said, "Oh, I deserve this. What have I done to myself?" RP, 603. From that point, the assaultive behavior ceased RP, 606.

Mr. McEvoy told her to get out of the car and he opened the hood, instructing Ms. McEvoy to hold his phone, which he had set to be used as a flashlight RP, 452. He appeared to attach some wires and they both got back into the vehicle RP, 452-53. When he started the car, it ran like normal RP, 453. They drove back to the house where the kids were out

on the road. RP, 454. When they got to the house, Ms. McEvoy got out of the car and told her husband, "Get the fuck out of here." RP, 455. She then went into the house with the kids and into KM's bedroom. RP, 455. Eventually, Mr. McEvoy left. RP, 457. Ms. McEvoy's injuries from the altercation were a goose egg on his forehead and a missing chunk of hair. RP, 485. She had bruising on her head and arm. RP, 485. There were no broken bones or impairment of essential body functions. RP, 612.

After the altercation, Ms. McEvoy decided to also leave the house with the kids and stay with her mother. RP, 614. She stayed at her mother house that night and every night thereafter for ten nights, returning on April 19 RP, 615

According to his trial testimony, DM went to bed around 10:00. RP, 389. He woke up to the sound of screaming and his mom yelling, "[DM], come help." RP, 390. DM left his bedroom and went into his parent's bedroom, where he saw his dad hitting his mom in the face. RP, 390. DM did not ever hear his father say, "Suck my cock." RP, 408. His mom was "curled up, protecting her face with her arms." RP, 390. DM demanded his father stop, which caused Mr. McEvoy to stop hitting Ms. McEvoy and look at him. RP, 391. Ms. McEvoy then instructed DM to call 911. RP, 391. When DM tried to walk down the hall towards the

kitchen and the closest available phone, Mr. McEvoy used his hand to stop DM and prevent him from proceeding further. RP, 391. DM described the maneuver as a "straight arm" movement, similar to one used by football players trying to prevent being tackled. RP, 412. Mr. McEvoy pulled down on DM's shirt, causing it to rip. RP, 391. DM then instructed his sister, KM, to go get the phone. RP, 392. But before she could walk to the kitchen, Mr. McEvoy "stopped her and pushed her aside, gently" and proceeded to the kitchen to get the phones. RP, 393. Ms. McEvoy ran out of the house and towards her car. RP, 394. Mr. McEvoy grabbed two phones and car keys and followed her out the door. RP, 394. DM did not see what happened next. RP, 394.

DM, concerned because all of the phones had been taken, decided to take his sister to their grandmother's house driving his father's truck. RP, 395. As he was leaving, he saw his mother's vehicle returning, so he returned to the house RP, 398. When the car got to the residence, Mr. McEvoy was driving and Ms. McEvoy was in vehicle crying RP, 398. After a short conversation, Mr. McEvoy left the house RP, 399.

Initially Ms. McEvoy was not going to report the incident RP, 458. But the next morning, after speaking to her mother and brother, she called 911 RP, 458. On April 10, 2014, at 10:40 a.m., Sheriff's Deputy

Frederick Breed responded to the 911 call. RP, 653, 670. He went to the address and spoke to Kara McEvoy. RP, 655. She described an altercation the previous night involving her husband, Brian McEvoy. RP, 655. Later that day, Mr. McEvoy was stopped driving a car on Highway 16 and arrested. RP, 657. Deputy Breed responded and had a short conversation with Mr. McEvoy. RP 658. The conversation continued at the jail. RP, 659. Mr. McEvoy said he did not punch Kara, but did pull her hair in an effort to defend himself. RP, 661. Mr. McEvoy was booked for fourth degree assault. RP, 673.

The next day, April 11, Mr. McEvoy appeared in court for a first appearance on the charge of fourth degree assault. RP, 686-92. The Court entered a no contact order prohibiting him from contacting Kara McEvoy or coming within 500 feet of "her residence." RP, 690. The address of her residence, 15755 Fairview Lake Road SW in Port Orchard does not appear on the document. RP 693.

On April 12, 2014, William Blaylock was out doing yard work at his home neighboring the McEvoy residence. RP, 675. He saw Mr. McEvoy's truck pull up and Mr. McEvoy get out and go to the mailbox. RP, 676. Mr. Blaylock asked Mr. McEvoy how he was doing and he answered, "Not good." He then added, "I'm not supposed to be here. I've

got to go." RP, 677. The distance from the mailbox to the top of the McEvoy driveway is 122 feet. RP, 202. When Mr McEvoy was interviewed on May 22, he stated his intent was to pick up his mail and he specifically picked a time when he knew no one would be home. RP, 336

Mr. McEvoy was arrested on April 14 at the Westwind Hotel in Gig Harbor for the no contact order violation. RP, 195-96, 313. He was subsequently released from jail, probably on bail, although the exact circumstances and date of his release do not appear in the record. RP, 317-18.

On April 17, 2014 Detective Menge re-interviewed Ms. McEvoy about the events of April 9. RP, 196, 317-18. At that time, Detective Menge observed bruising on her person and a chunk of missing hair from the top of her head. RP, 197. She took photographs of her observations. RP, 197. As a result of that interview, Detective Menge requested an arrest warrant for the additional charge of attempted second degree rape and the Court authorized it. RP, 317-18.

On April 19, Mr. McEvoy flew from Seatac airport to Vermont through the Detroit airport RP, 834 Mr. McEvoy's mother and family live in Vermont. RP, 834.

The jury learned the following information from receipts seized during the May 19 search of Mr. McEvoy's vehicle. These receipts were objected to by the defense at trial and the subject of an extended discussion prior to their admission. RP, 320. On May 5, Mr. McEvoy rented a car from Hertz in Burlington, Vermont. RP 321, Ex. 60A1. On May 8, Mr. McEvoy rented a hotel room in Albertville, Minnesota. RP, 321. On May 9, he stayed at the Best Western in Dickinson, North Dakota. RP, 322. On May 10, he was in Missoula, Montana at the Value Inn. RP, 322. According to that receipt, he checked out sometime on May 11. RP, 323. There was no hotel receipt for the night of May 11. RP, 323. On May 12, a hotel receipt was admitted indicating he slept at the Holiday Inn Express in Tacoma. RP, 323.

In the late evening hours of May 11, Mother's Day, Ms. McEvoy was at the residence with the children and her brother, Kyle Koehn RP, 754. The children went to bed around 10:00 p m. RP, 757. According to DM's testimony, while he was getting undressed for bed, he saw his father walking in their yard RP, 402. DM came out of his bedroom and announced to the family, "Dad's here." RP, 759. After some discussion, Mr. Koehn retrieved a pistol, DM grabbed a baseball bat, and the two of them went outside to investigate. RP, 771. They did not see anything

unusual. RP, 773, 786. The two of them looked for any evidence of Mr. McEvoy for about fifteen minutes but did not see anything. RP, 786

Ms. McEvoy reported the alleged sighting to Detective Menge the next day. RP, 210 DM was interviewed at school on May 13, 2014 about what he saw RP, 210. After his arrest, Mr. McEvoy was asked about this alleged contact and he denied being at the house. RP, 324. It should be noted that this alleged incident was charged in Count IX of the amended information, Violation of No Contact Order, and the jury acquitted him of this Count.

Mr. McEvoy was scheduled to be in court on the morning of May 13 for his pending fourth degree assault charge. Mr. Koehn attended the hearing, but Mr. McEvoy did not. RP, 773.

Sometime on May 13, Mr McEvoy returned the rental car to Hertz at Seatac Airport. RP, 328.

On May 13, 2014, Mr. McEvoy telephoned Ms. McEvoy at work RP, 221. The phone call was recorded by Ms. McEvoy's work phone system, Northwest Physician's Network. RP, 221. During the conversation, Ms. McEvoy texted Detective Menge to say Mr. McEvoy was on the phone with her. RP, 219. Detective Menge later spoke to her

on the phone and she sounded afraid RP, 219. Detective Menge later listened to the call and described Ms. McEvoy's voice as "chilling." RP, 221. The recorded call was later transcribed and played for the jury Exhibit 47A

On May 14, according to a hotel receipt recovered from his vehicle, Mr. McEvoy slept at the Red Roof Inn in Seatac on International Boulevard. RP, 331

On May 15, Mr. McEvoy went to the Shuttlepark 2 Airport Parking in Seatac and picked up his truck at 11:43 a.m. RP, 826-27. This information was introduced by the defense through Oscar Garcia, the custodian of records at Shuttlepark 2 Airport Parking RP, 821. Later that day, according to a hotel receipt recovered from his vehicle, he rented a hotel room at the Holiday Inn Express in Tacoma RP, 334.

The alleged sighting of Mr. McEvoy by DM the night of May 11 and the telephone call on May 13 caused a panic in the Sheriff's Office. The State introduced an enormous amount of evidence of the efforts made to locate Mr. McEvoy and the defense repeatedly objected to this testimony. Detective Menge testified she instructed officers to conduct periodic surveillance on the McEvoy residence as well as Ms. McEvoy's place of work, RP, 212. During this line of questioning, the defense made

several objections, each of which was overruled. RP, 212. At that point, the Court excused the jury and held a colloquy on the record about the admissibility of police procedures to locate Mr. McEvoy. RP, 213. The defense position was that, in order to get into the "nitty-gritty" of the police efforts, the State needed to show a nexus between Detective Menge's actions and Mr. McEvoy's consciousness of guilt. RP, 215. Stated another way, "unless there's evidence of [Mr. McEvoy's] actions to thwart [capture], there's no consciousness of guilt. And if there's no consciousness of guilt, there's no relevance." RP, 216. The Court overruled the objection and the defense requested a standing objection to the entire line of inquiry. RP, 216. When the jury returned, Detective Menge testified that over the next week, she investigated his cell phone records, looked up his bank and credit card records, contacted local and federal police agencies, and contacted car rental companies. RP, 218.

At trial the State also called Lieutenant Detective Earl Smith to testify about the efforts made by law enforcement to locate Mr. McEvoy. RP, 694. He is the supervisor in the detective's unit of the Kitsap Sheriff's Office RP, 694. Other than coordinating the search efforts behind the scenes, Detective Smith had no direct role in Mr. McEvoy's arrest or investigation RP, 705. He was the supervisor who assigned Detective Menge to the case, although at trial he could not even recall that fact. RP,

189, 698. He testified when he heard the May 13 recording, he became very alarmed and stepped up his efforts to locate Mr. McEvoy. RP, 700. When asked to clarify, defense counsel objected and the court overruled. RP, 701 Detective Smith clarified that when it was believed Mr. McEvoy was in Vermont, he knew the family was safe, but when he learned he was back in Washington, he assigned more detectives to the case and asked other law enforcement agencies to assist. RP, 702. When asked for further explanation of what efforts he made, defense counsel again objected saying, "Your honor, again, I don't know how any of this is relevant to what Mr. McEvoy did." RP, 703 The Court again overruled the objection. Describing the situation as "very serious what was going on," Detective Smith detailed how he sent multiple emails to Kitsap, Pierce, and Mason counties, and contacted at least nine police agencies. RP, 703, 709. As an officer safety precaution, he ordered two-person patrol cars. RP, 705. At his request, the Pierce County Sheriff's Office activated their SWAT unit, although it was ultimately never used RP, 708. He deployed surveillance teams around the courthouse. RP, 708. Multiple leads for Mr. McEvoy's whereabouts turned out to be dead ends. RP, 706 Because he was "very, very concerned about the kids," he initially contacted the principal and the school resource officer, but ultimately pulled the kids out of school RP, 709. This statement was objected to and the court let it

stand RP, 710. When DM was pulled from school, he arranged for him to leave in a patrol car with a surveillance team watching. Surveillance teams were set up at Ms. McEvoy's place of work and, at one point, he had a plain clothes detective remove her from work while a surveillance team followed in the hope Mr. McEvoy would follow her, although he never appeared on the scene. RP, 710-11. Eventually, Detective Smith decided to request the aid of the U.S. Marshall's Office. RP, 703.

U.S. Marshalls Jacob Whitehurst and Raymond Fleck were among the Marshall's assigned to the case on May 16. RP, 728, 792. Their sole job as part of the Pacific Northwest Violent Officer Task Force is to locate and apprehend fugitives. RP, 727. The Marshall's Office only gets involved if it is a violent crime or a sex crime and, according to Marshall Whitehurst, "we know that great bodily harm and/or death is likely to occur or is imminent if this person is not apprehended." RP, 728. Marshall Fleck was even more descriptive. He described the Pacific Northwest Violent Officer Task Force as "responsible, for lack of a better term, the worst of the worst." RP, 793. The Task Force has certain criteria and the case has to be one of homicide, imminent assault, or certain types of sex cases. RP, 794. Reviewing those criteria, and specifically the fact that "there was a potential for targeted acted [sic] of violence," and the situation "posed an imminent threat," Marshall Fleck approved the use of

the Pacific Northwest Violent Officer Task Force to locate and arrest Mr McEvoy RP, 798-99.

On May 19, 2014, Kyle Koehn received several calls from Mr. McEvoy. RP, 223, 780. Mr. Koehn was working with law enforcement to try and track the calls and would talk with him as long as he could, about fifteen minutes each RP, 780. With Mr. Koehn's assistance, law enforcement figured out Mr. McEvoy somewhere in Gig Harbor. RP, 223.

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