NO. 46795-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN NMI MCEVOY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON

Superior Court No. 14-1-00674-6

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

KELLIE L. PENDRAS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

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

made about the identity of the persons who made the entries in the ledgers. *Id.* at 799. The Court further noted that the jury "was not advised that the entries in the ledger were not admissible for the truth of the matter asserted." *Id.* at 799. The Court distinguished the situation from *Marino*, noting that in *Marino*, the evidence was not admitted for the truth of the matter asserted and that the persons who made the entries were not identified at trial, thus the "testimony interpreting their meanings were not admissible as the admissions of a party." *Id.* at 800.

In *United States v. Jefferson*, 925 F.2d 1242, 916 (1991), the district court admitted a U.S. West pager bill to "assert both that Jefferson had purchased pager service from U.S. West and that he owed U.S. West money for this purchase." *Id.* at 1252. In a footnote, the Court noted that this situation was different from the one presented in *Marino*, because there were too many cases where "mere possession of a bill in no way constitutes an adoption of its contents. Common every day experience teaches us that disputes with creditors based upon inaccuracies contained in their bills is not a rarity." *Id.* at 1253, n.13. The *Jefferson* court did find, however, that admission of the bill was harmless error and noted that the "authenticity of the pager bill was not disputed. It was a bill from an established company that, on its face, gave every indicia of having been issued in the ordinary course of business." *Id.* at 1254. The government

did not call a custodian of records when it offered the pager bill for admission. *Id.* at 1252.

McEvoy argues that *Marino* is an anomaly, stating that the Ninth Circuit has consistently held that mere possession of a document is not admissible to prove its contents. He further posits that the most thorough "debunking" of the *Marino* case can be found in *United States v. Jefferson*. However, he mischaracterizes the findings in these cases.

Rather than a "debunking," the situation in *Jefferson* is clearly distinguishable from *Marino*. Of note is the fact that the court specifically used the word "bill" rather than the more generic "documents", clearly drawing a line between general documents and a bill where one may dispute charges. In *Jefferson*, the government offered the pager bill to prove that the defendant both purchased the pager and owed money whereas in *Marino*, the documents were not offered as proof that the individuals owed money or made a particular purchase; rather they were used to argue that the defendants had been in a particular area at a particular time.

What makes the present case even more distinguishable from *Jefferson* or *Ordonez* is that McEvoy admitted to driving from Vermont to Washington during the relevant time period. RP (9/9) 253-54. That admission was of particular significance to the trial court because it was an

acknowledgment by McEvoy that the receipts did indeed support the State's argument that McEvoy had made the trek from Vermont. Once he was in Washington, he jumped from hotel to hotel consistent with the theory that he was evading law enforcement.

Even if it was error to admit the receipts, any error here was harmless. Like *Jefferson*, the receipts on their face were what they appeared to be--receipts from hotel stays in various states across the United States, giving them an indicia of reliability. McEvoy claims that but for the admission of the receipts, the State would not have been able to argue that he drove across the United States with the intent of killing his wife. That is simply not the case—McEvoy admitted to Detective Menge that he had driven from Vermont to Washington. RP (9/9) 249-50. The State still would have been able to make the same argument. It was not error for the trial court to admit the receipts as adoptive admissions and even if the Court were to find error, any error here was harmless.

C. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MCEVOY OF VIOLATION OF A PROTECTION ORDER ON APRIL 12, 2014 WHERE HE WENT TO THE FAMILY HOME AND WAS CLEARLY WITHIN 500 FEET OF THAT RESIDENCE; FURTHER, THE FACT THAT MS. MCEVOY WAS TEMPORARILY STAYING IN ANOTHER LOCATION THAT DAY DOES NOT CHANGE THE FACT THAT THE FAMILY HOME WAS STILL HER RESIDENCE.

McEvoy next claims that that there is insufficient evidence to convict him of violating a no contact order on April 12, 2014, because Ms. McEvoy was not living at the family residence at the time and the term "residence" is ambiguous. This claim is without merit because while Ms. McEvoy was temporarily staying at her mother's residence for a brief time period because of her fear of her husband, her belongings were still at the family residence and she returned to live at that residence after McEvoy left the state and she felt safe.

An insufficient claim admits that both the State's evidence and any inferences that can reasonably be drawn from this evidence are true. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Sufficient evidence supports a conviction if any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt when viewing that evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Hoisier*, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006).

McEvoy argues that the term "residence" is ambiguous and because the court order did not specify the address it did not put him on fair notice that he cannot approach a residence where his wife is not living. He proposes that the Court follow the definition of "fixed residence" found in RCW 9A.44.128(5), which defines it as "a building that a person lawfully and habitually uses as living quarters a majority of a week." Because Ms. McEvoy stayed with her mother for approximately ten days, McEvoy concludes that she had a different "residence" during this time period.

The definition proposed by McEvoy is one that specifically applies only in failure to register cases and the State does not agree that this is persuasive evidence of how the Legislature intended to define "residence." The trial court came to the same conclusion when trial counsel proposed this same definition be defined for the jury. RP (9/15) 863. In *State v. Vant*, 145 Wn. App. 592, 599, 186 P.3d 1149 (2008) the Court relied on the dictionary definition when determining what "residence" meant for purposes of violating a no contact order. Residence was defined as "the place where one actually lives or has his home distinguished from his technical domicile;...a temporary or permanent dwelling place, abode, or habitation to which one intends to return as distinguished from a place of temporary sojourn or transient visit." *Vant*, 145 Wn. App. at 599.

Here, it is clear that although Ms. McEvoy and her children were staying at her mom's residence for a few days, it was only on a temporary basis. RP (9/11) 492. She still considered the family home her "residence" and, in fact, she and the children returned there on April 13, 2014 to get more of their belongings for their temporary stay at her mom's house. RP (9/11) 492. She and her children returned to the home for good only when they felt safe, believing that McEvoy had left the state. RP (9/11) 493. Moreover, McEvoy's actions were not consistent with one who was aware that his wife was temporarily staying somewhere else. Rather, he chose to go check for mail despite the fact that they had sent the majority of their mail to a P.O. Box for the past 15 years and told a neighbor that he "wasn't supposed to be there." RP (9/11) 493; RP (9/12) 676-77. Any rational trier of fact could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the family home where McEvoy went under the guise of checking his mail was Ms. McEvoy's permanent dwelling place and that McEvoy plainly understood that being there violated the court order. Therefore, the evidence was sufficient that he violated the no contact order on April 12, 2014.

D. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MCEVOY OF FELONY STALKING WHERE THERE WAS EVIDNCE THAT ON TWO DISTINCT OCCASIONS MCEVOY FOLLOWED OR HARASSED HIS WIFE WHILE THERE WAS A PROTECTION ORDER IN PLACE.

McEvoy next claims that there was insufficient evidence to convict him of Felony Stalking. He argues that the State did not meet the standard set out in *State v. Johnson*, ___Wn. App. ____, 342 P.3d 338 (2015) because it did not prove that on two separate occasions, McEvoy harassed or followed his wife in violation of the protection order. This claim is without merit because the State clearly proved two distinct incidents of harassing or following.

McEvoy concedes that the telephone call on May 13, 2014, would meet the definition of a harassing incident and the State agrees that the incident of May 11, 2014, is not applicable because the jury acquitted McEvoy of that incident. So the discussion centers on whether or not McEvoy's violation of the no contact order on April 12, 2014, constitutes a harassing incident. It is clear from the evidence that it does.

The definition of "harassment" in the stalking statute has the same definition as "unlawful harassment" which is defined as "a knowing and willful course of conduct directed at a specific person which seriously alarms, annoys, harasses, or is detrimental to such person, and which

serves no legitimate or lawful purpose." RCW 10.14.020. "Repeatedly" is defined as harassing or following on "two or more separate occasions." RCW 9A.46.110(6)(e). A "separate occasion" has been interpreted to mean a "distinct, individual, noncontinuous occurrence or incident." *State v. Kintz*, 169 Wn.2d 537, 548, 238 P.3d 226 (2010).

On April 12, 2014, McEvoy went to his wife's residence under the guise of checking his mail. RP (9/12) 493. However, he had not received substantive mail at that address for 15 years—instead, bills were sent to a P.O. Box because he had a fear of their mail being stolen. RP (9/11) 493. Further, it was clear from his conversation with the neighbor Mr. Blaylock that he was aware that he should not be at the residence. RP (9/12) 676-77. Ms. McEvoy was frightened when she heard that her husband had been at the residence in violation of the order. RP (9/12) 492. McEvoy was aware that there was a no contact order in place stemming from events that had occurred a few days prior yet he made a conscious decision to go the Ms. McEvoy's residence not to "get his mail" but instead to see where she was. It was clearly a course of conduct that was intended to seriously alarm, annoy, or harass Ms. McEvoy. There was sufficient evidence to convict McEvoy of felony Stalking.

E. FOR SENTENCING PURPOSES ONLY, MCEVOY'S TWO MISDEMEANOR CONVICTIONS FOR VIOLATION OF A COURT ORDER WOULD MERGE WITH HIS CONVICTION FOR FELONY STALKING

McEvoy next claims that the two no contact order violations merge with the Felony Stalking for sentencing purposes. This issue was neither raised at the trial level in the defense sentencing memorandum nor during sentencing. CP 199-208; RP (10/13) 2-42. However, it is well established that a party may raise for the first time on appeal a challenge to a sentence if the basis is that the sentence is contrary to law. *State v. Armstrong*, 91 Wn. App. 635, 959 P.2d 1128 (1998). The State would agree that *State v. Parmlee*, 108 Wn. App. 702, 32 P.3d 1029 (2001), would apply to the present case and for sentencing purposes only, the two convictions for violation of a court order would merge with the Felony Stalking conviction. Therefore, McEvoy should not have been sentenced separately on those two misdemeanor counts.

F. IT WAS NOT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO REFUSE TO INSTRUCT ON THE LESSER INCLUDED CHARGE OF **MISDEMEANOR HARASSMENT FOR** MCEVOY'S TELEPHONE CALL TO HIS WIFE ON MAY 12, 2014 WHERE, WHEN AT ALL LOOKING OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES, THE ONLY CONCLUSION FOR THE JURY TO DRAW WAS THAT MCEVOY WAS THREATENING TO KILL HER.

McEvoy next claims that the trial court erred when it refused to instruct on the lesser included charge of misdemeanor harassment. He argues that because the statements he made in the May 13, 2014 phone call to his wife could be interpreted as either threats to harm or threats to kill, the decision should have been placed in the hands of the jury. This claim is without merit because the only way for the jury to interpret McEvoy's threats were as threats to kill. A trial court's decision regarding the second prong of *Workman* is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998).

Trial counsel requested a jury instruction for the lesser included offense at trial. The trial court denied that request, finding that there was no evidence "upon which the jury can rely that only the lesser crime was committed." RP (9/15) 868. The trial court noted that while McEvoy never actually used the words "kill" or "hurt", the issue was whether or not there can only be an inference that a lesser crime was committed. RP

(9/15) 868. The trial court was persuaded by Ms. McEvoy's testimony that when she heard the threats from McEvoy, she was convinced he was going to kill her. RP (9/15) 868. Therefore, the facts did not support an inference that McEvoy only threatened bodily injury or that Ms. McEvoy feared bodily injury to the exclusion of death. RP (9/15) 868. McEvoy takes exception to this conclusion, arguing that the court's interpretation of *State v. C.G.*, 150 Wn.2d 604, 80 P.3d 594 (2003), was too narrow. The State disagrees.

A person is guilty of harassment if, without lawful authority, the person knowingly threatens cause bodily injury to the threatened person; cause physical damage to the property of another; subjects a person to physical confinement or restraint; or maliciously do any other act that is intended to substantially harm a person with respect to his physical or mental health or safety and, by words or conduct, places the threatened person in reasonable fear that the threat will be carried out. RCW 9A.46.020. The crime is elevated to a felony if the threat is a threat to kill. RCW 9A.46.020(b).

In determining whether or not a jury instruction is warranted on a lesser charge, two requirements must be met: (1) each of the elements of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged; and (2) the evidence in the case must support an inference that the lesser crime

was committed. *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). The State would agree here that the first prong is met.

In *State v. C.G.*, the defendant told her teacher that she was going to kill him. At the hearing, the teacher testified that he believed CG would have harmed him or someone else. *C.G.*, 150 Wn.2d at 607. The Court held that in order to convict an individual of felony harassment, the State must prove the person threatened was placed in reasonable fear that the threat to kill would be carried out. *Id.* at 612. The Court further noted that "the nature of the threat depends on all the facts and circumstances, and it is not proper to limit the inquiry to a literal translation of the words spoken." *Id.* at 611.

McEvoy argues that the threats were "ambiguous", claiming that everyone has a "short time on earth" and that he never specifically said what he would do when he found his wife. However, as the *C.G.* court noted, the nature of the threat depends on the facts and circumstances as a whole. Here, Ms. McEvoy had been terrorized by her husband about a month prior, an incident that resulted in the district court imposing a no contact order, an order that McEvoy almost immediately violated. She was so scared that she stayed with her mother until she knew McEvoy was no longer in the state. These incidents were exacerbated by a recent history of escalating domestic violence and a prior threat to kill. Further,

the tone of McEvoy's voice during the call was described as calm and chilling. RP (9/9) 222. Ms. McEvoy believed that he was threatening to find and kill her, certainly reasonable under these circumstances. RP (9/11) 523.

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